1941

Lauren W. Gibbs, Inc. v. E. E. Monson, Joseph Chez,
and Rulon F. Starley, and the Securities
Commission of the State of Utah : Brief of
Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

Respondent herein was registered as a dealer in securities for the year 1939 pursuant to Sec. 82-1-15 R. S. 1933.

The Securities Commission, on November 18, 1939, revoked said registration pursuant to Sec. 82-1-21 R. S. 1933.

Thereafter, on December 18, 1939, respondent instituted an action in the Third Judicial District Court of Salt

Lake County by filing a Complaint against the Commission and the members thereof, praying that the Court set aside the Order of Revocation made by the Commission, and that the Commission "be required to return to this Court a transcript of the proceedings had before it * * *, together with a transcript of the evidence adduced at the hearing * * *, within the time allowed by law for the defendants to answer the Complaint * * *, and for such other and further relief as may be proper in the premises." *Abz 11*

A Summons, in form prescribed for civil actions in District Courts, was served upon the Commission December 18, 1939, and on the same day the District Court of Salt Lake County, without notice to the Commission of its intent to act, issued, ex parte, an Order requiring the Commission to "return to the Court within twenty days from the date of service hereof, a full and complete transcript of the proceedings had by defendants * * *, and that pending the determination of the cause and until the judgment of the Court becomes final, the Order of defendants cancelling plaintiff's registration as a dealer in securities * * *, shall be suspended and the right of plaintiff to do business in the State of Utah as a licensed dealer shall continue." *Abz 23*

Thereafter, and within the time allowed to appear, the Commission challenged, by Demurrer and Motion, the sufficiency of the Complaint and the jurisdiction of the Court to proceed in the manner in which it had proceeded and proposed to proceed, and prayed that the Court vacate its unlawful Order suspending the Order of the Commission. *Abz*

The Demurrer was over-ruled and the Motion was denied, and notice thereof was given defendants on January 3, 1941. *Abn 26*

Upon receipt of notice of the Court's disposition of the Demurrer and Motion the Commission filed its notice of intention to stand on its Demurrer and Motion, and on the same day the Court entered its Judgment, January 4, 1941, setting aside and holding for naught the revocation order of the Commission. *Abn 26-8*

Thereafter, on January 15, 1941, defendants served and filed a Notice of Appeal, and on January 28, the Clerk of the District Court filed in this Court the Transcript on Appeal in the case, and thereafter, on the 29th day of January, 1941, appellants served and filed Assignments of Error as follows: *Abn 29-31*

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I.

The Trial Court erred in making and entering its Order of December 18, 1939, in the following particulars:

1. It suspended an Order of the Securities Commission dated November 18, 1939, on mere motion of respondent's Counsel, ex parte, without notice to appellants, and without affording appellants an opportunity to be heard.
2. It authorized respondent to continue to do business as a licensed dealer in securities, pending final determination by the Court of the action instituted by respondent.

3. It failed to require a bond or other security from respondent pending such final determination by the Court.

All of which acts and omissions were contrary to law, and the plain provisions of Chapter 1, Title 82, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933.

II.

The Trial Court erred in denying appellants' Motion for an Order to set aside its Suspending Order of December 18, 1939.

III.

The Trial Court erred in the exercise of its discretion, if it had discretion, and clearly abused such discretion with respect to matters stated in Assignments I and II herein.

IV.

The Trial Court erred in over-ruling appellants' Demurrer to respondent's Amended Complaint on file in said cause.

V.

The Trial Court erred in making and entering its final Judgment in said cause setting aside and holding for naught the said Order of the Securities Commission dated November 18, 1939, for the reason that said Judgment is contrary to law.

The questions raised by each Assignment of Error may be discussed in the order in which the assignments appear above.

ASSIGNMENT I. ARGUMENT

1. Had the District Court jurisdiction to suspend the Revocation Order of the Securities Commission ex parte, without notice to the Commission, and without affording the Commission an opportunity to be heard?

The answer must be No; for the reason that the Legislature of Utah has declared that the business of selling securities, and dealers in securities, shall be regulated. It has set up standards and rules of regulation and has vested in the Securities Commission of Utah the *sole* duty of administering the law with respect thereto,—Title 82, Chap. 1, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933.

It may be argued that the Courts share this responsibility with the Commission by reason of Sec. 82-1-41. This position cannot be sustained because neither a Commission nor the Courts had authority to license dealers in securities before the passage of the Securities Act, and a fortiori, neither had authority to revoke a license. After the Act was passed the Commission was given such authority, subject to court control. L. 25. Chap. 87, Sec. 19. But in 1933, the control of the court was limited by Sec. 82-1-41-supra. No word, phrase or sentence in the Act as amended, can be construed to show a legislative intent to give the Courts power to license, suspend, or revoke licenses of dealers in securities. Courts must find and follow the legislative intent. This Court tersely enunciated such doctrine in a very recent case,—*Golding vs. Schubach Optical Company*, 93 Utah, 32, 70 Pac. (2d) 871. Speaking of regulating Optometrists the Court said:

"It matters not whether optometry be regarded as a 'learned profession' or not. It is a 'licensed profession', or trade, which had no regulation until the Legislature acted and set up standards and regulations. The Legislature having so acted, the Court cannot go beyond what the Legislature has done. We are not concerned with what the regulations or limitations should be. That argument must be addressed to the Legislature. We are only concerned with what the Legislature has said; how far have they gone?"

Applying this test to the regulation of dealers in securities, let us see what the Legislature has said with respect to the Court's authority to issue, suspend, or revoke dealers' licenses. The law as now written is found in Sec. 82-1-41, which reads as follows:

"Any person directly affected and aggrieved by any final order of the Commission made under any of the provisions of this title may, within 30 days after notice of such order, institute an action in the district court of the county at the seat of government against the Commission, setting out his grievance and right to complain. In its answer the commission may set out any matter in justification; and the court shall determine the issues on both questions of law and fact, and may affirm, set aside or modify the order complained of."

For emphasis, we repeat that before the passage of the 1925 law, the Courts had no power to issue, suspend, or revoke dealers' licenses, and a reading of Section 82-1-41 shows no such power granted now. It is not even intimated. On the contrary, there is conclusive proof that the legislature intended to relieve the Court of such responsibility by the

amendment aforesaid. It may now initiate nothing itself with respect to licensing. It may not even disturb what the Commission has done except after a complaint filed, answer made, and "issues on both questions of law and fact" are determined by the Court.

Yet in this case the Court suspended an order of the Commission, with nothing but a complaint before it, and without a single issue made, and without an opportunity afforded the Commission to answer and make an issue. In view of the Statute the conduct of the Court was both unlawful and high-handed. *Union Trans. Co. vs. Bassett* 118 Cal. 604, 50 P. 754; *Doble etc. Corp. vs. Daugherty* (Cal.) 232 P. 140.

2. But the Court was not content to merely suspend the Order of the Commission. It went further, and authorized the plaintiff to continue as a "licensed dealer" pending final determination of the case, notwithstanding the only body authorized to revoke a license had revoked it, and notwithstanding Sec. 82-1-15 of the Securities Act, which provides:

"Every registration under this section shall expire on the 31st day of December in each year."

The Court's suspension order was made December 18th, 1939, and its final determination of the issues was made and entered January 4, 1941, so that the plaintiff operated as a licensed dealer, by Court Order, in three distinct license years contrary to plain legislative mandate. If the Suspension Order was high-handed, this was little short of con-

tumacious. It could not even be excused on the ground that the Court believed the whole Act to be unconstitutional for the reason that if the Act is unconstitutional the Court is stripped of power to make any orders of any kind respecting the licensing of dealers.

3. Assuming that the Court had authority to suspend the Commission's Order and the authority to issue a license to the dealer pending its determination of issues, had it the authority to do so without requiring a bond from the dealer to insure proper conduct by the dealer pending such determination?

Again, this would depend upon the Legislative intent. On this point the Securities Act is silent, but the Legislature has created many other boards and commissions, and with respect to orders to be made by them it has not been unmindful that the status of such orders pending Court review is important. *Scripps-Howard Radio et al. vs. Fed. Communications Comm.* U. S. Ct. of App. D. C. Decided Feb. 3, 1941, —Fed. 2nd—. *Fed. Communications Comm. vs. Pottsville Bdctg. Co.*, 309 U. S. 134.

With respect to the Board of Agriculture, it provided that the license should remain in effect until the end of the license period, or until final determination of Court proceedings, whichever is first in point of time. *Laws of Utah, 1935, Chap. 4, Sec. 17.*

With respect to the Aeronautic Commission, it provided: "The district court may in its discretion determine whether the filing of the praecipe shall act as a supersedeas." *Laws of Utah, 1937, Chap. 10, Sec. 17.*

With respect to the Public Service Commission it provided: "The Commission shall be served with process * * * which shall operate to stay all proceedings pending the decision of the district court, during which pendency the commission shall grant the applicant a temporary permit to operate as a contract carrier." Laws of Utah, 1935, Chap. 65, Sec. 9.

With respect to Contractors under the Board of Registration, it provided for an appeal to the district court like an appeal from a justice's court, and gave the Court the power to suspend or cancel licenses after a hearing. Laws of Utah, 1933, Chap. 58, Sec. 6.

With respect to Board of Registration, controlling the licensing of about 20 trades and professions, the Insurance Commission and the Securities Commission, nothing was said with respect to supersedeas, stays, or bonds. What, then, did the Legislature intend by such omission?

The most natural and logical conclusion is that it intended the orders of such bodies to stand until found unlawful by a Court of competent jurisdiction. If it intended anything else it could have said so as it did in the case of other licensing bodies.

If, upon any consideration of law or equity, it could be said that the Court has authority to reinstate a revoked license, the same consideration would lead to the conclusion that the dealer should be required to give bond for the protection of the public, since the Legislature must have thought

that he ought not to practice his business or profession at all during pendency of the Court action.

ASSIGNMENT II. ARGUMENT.

For reasons set forth under Assignment I, it appears that the Court erred in denying appellants' Motion to vacate its Suspending Order of December 18, 1939.

ASSIGNMENT III. ARGUMENT.

Assignment III is also disposed of by the facts and conclusions set forth under the discussion of Assignment I.

ARGUMENT. ASSIGNMENT IV.

GENERAL DEMURRER

Should appellants' Demurrer to respondent's Complaint have been sustained?

We answer in the affirmative, because all the well pleaded facts set forth in the said Complaint state no remedial grievance, but on the contrary they constitute a justification of the Order complained of. What constitutes well pleaded facts is tersely stated in the case of *Montana Amusements Company vs. Goldwyn*, 182 Pac. 121, as follows:

“A demurrer only admits facts well pleaded; it does not admit matters of inference and argument however clearly stated; it does not admit, for example, the accuracy of an alleged construction of an instrument, when the instrument is set forth in the bill, or a copy is annexed, against a construction required by its terms, nor the correctness of the ascription of a purpose to the parties when not justified by the language used. The several averments of the plaintiff in the bill as to his understanding of his rights, and of the liabilities and duties of others under the con-

tract can, therefore, exert no influence upon the mind of the Court in the disposition of the demurrer. *Dillon vs. Barnard*, 21 Wall 437; 22 L. Ed. 673."

"Courts will not read into a pleading a substantive allegation which has been omitted therefrom. Substance is just as essential under the Code as at common law. Where * * * attack is made upon a complaint for want of substantial allegations, the Court should indulge, as against the pleader, the presumption that he has stated his cause of action as strongly as he can, and construe it accordingly. *Conrad National Bank vs. G. N. Railway*, 24 Mont. 182, 61 Pac. 3."

With these principles in mind, we may now proceed to examine the Complaint paragraph by paragraph, to determine whether a cause of action is stated.

Paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 allege the capacity of the parties, and raise no issue.

Paragraph 4 sets forth an Order to the respondent to Show Cause before the Commission why its registration should not be cancelled for allegedly having engaged in a practice of the sale of securities, which is fraudulent and in violation of law, and allegedly having demonstrated its unworthiness to transact the business of a dealer in securities. Respondent complains that this is not "information in writing" or information concerning the nature of the wrongs committed. But in paragraphs 7 and 11 respondent alleges that it was furnished a Bill of Particulars and an Amended Bill of Particulars concerning said wrongs, thereby negating its allegation that it was not furnished information in writing, both in general and specific terms, concerning the alleged wrongs.

In paragraphs 8 and 11 respondent alleges that the Bill of Particulars and the amended Bill of Particulars "wholly failed to set forth facts sufficient to support or sustain in anywise the said information served upon plaintiff" as alleged in paragraph 4.

This is not an allegation of fact at all. It is the pleader's conclusion and cannot overcome the presumption that the Bill of Particulars was sufficient. *Inland Steel vs. N.L.R.B.* 105 Fed. 246. Thus we have not only the pleader's bare conclusions, but the unconscious statement of a fallacy as well. A parallel instance may be found in *Kansas Gas & Electric Co. vs. Comm.*, 122 Kan. 462, 251 Pac. 1097. In that case the aggrieved party brought an action in Court praying that an order of a commission granting a competing company a license, or certificate of convenience and necessity to operate in a described district, be set aside and enjoined, on the ground that the order was arbitrary, unlawful and unreasonable "for the reason that no evidence whatever was introduced before said commission which would justify or support its order or finding."

In support of its contention the "aggrieved party" outlined the proceedings had before the commission "and other more or less pertinent facts in detail", which on its face showed that proper issues had been raised before the commission followed by the introduction of competent evidence on the issues, and findings and an order.

The Commission, and the company receiving the license, demurred to the Complaint of the aggrieved party and the

demurrer was sustained. It was sustained for the following reasons:

1. That the allegations that the conduct of the Commission was arbitrary, unlawful and unreasonable was a mere conclusion of the pleader and a paralogism.

2. That the allegation in the Complaint to the effect that no evidence whatever was introduced to justify or support the Commission's order or finding was negated by an allegation in the Complaint stating that at the hearing before the Commission "evidence was introduced (by applicant) in support of its said petition, and by these plaintiffs (protestants) in opposition thereto, and said hearing was closed and the matter taken under advisement."

Reference to the Complaint of the aggrieved party in the case at bar discloses the following grievances:

1. That the Securities Act is unconstitutional.
2. That the charges made by the Commission against the aggrieved party were insufficient.
3. That the hearing was not conducted lawfully.
4. That the aggrieved party is innocent.

We purpose to show, as we go along, that each of these grievances is negated by the allegations of the Complaint, except the first, which will be shown to be untrue as a matter of law.

With respect to the sufficiency of the charges it is now too well settled to admit of argument that:

"The requirements of a complaint before the department charging unprofessional conduct, even

on direct attack, are not as exacting nor are the ingredients of the charged misconduct required to be as formally or as specifically stated as in a criminal or civil proceeding where the offense involved in the charge is the basis of the action." *State vs. Cragun*, 81 Utah, 457, 20 P (2nd) 247.

It is equally well established that "The Code provisions do not govern procedure before public quasi-judicial bodies, such as the Public Service Commission, the Industrial Commission, or the like." *McCarty vs. Public Service Commission*, 94 Utah, 304, 77 Pac. (2d) 331; *Meffert vs. Packer*, 66 Kan. 710, 72 Pac. 27, which later case was affirmed by the Supreme Court of the United States; 195 U.S. 625, 49 L. ed. 350, 25 Sup. Court Rep. 790.

Charges filed against a licensee with the Commission, or charges laid by the Commission itself, must be sufficient "to challenge the attention of the board, and notify" the licensee "of the nature of the charges made against him." *Meffert vs. Packer*, *supra*.

It may be conceded that a notice to a licensee to appear before the Commission "and show cause why your license should not be revoked," without more, would be insufficient, but it is not so clear that the following notice is insufficient:

"That the said Lauren W. Gibbs, Inc., . . . through one or more of its officers or directors has been guilty of a fraudulent act in connection with the sale of certain securities and has demonstrated its unworthiness to transact the business of a dealer in securities within the State of Utah."

This charge is in the language of our statute, and it is admittedly general. But, as we shall show hereafter, charges

sometimes can be made only in general language. As said in a note to the Meffert case found in 1 L.R.A. (N.S.) 811:

“The power exercised and the object of its exercise are in each case identical, viz: to exclude an incompetent or unworthy person from the practice of medicine.”

The purpose of sub-section 4 of Section 82-1-21 (Utah Statute) is the same. It provides that a dealer's license may be cancelled if he

“Has demonstrated his *unworthiness* to transact the business of dealer.” (*Italics supplied*) “In the very nature of the subject there must be lodged somewhere a personal discretion for determining who are unworthy.” 66 C.J. 63.

Under a Kansas statute, quoted below, the Medical Board proceeded as follows:

Kansas Statute:

“The board may refuse to grant a certificate to any person guilty of gross immorality or addicted to the liquor or drug habit to such a degree as to render him unfit to practice medicine or surgery; and may, after notice and hearing, revoke the license for like cause.” 1 L.R.A. (N.S.) 814.

Dr. Meffert was accused of being grossly immoral under this statute and his license was revoked. The Complaint served upon him contained a charge of gross immorality supported by exhibits as follows:

(1) A resolution passed by the Board of Education of the City of Emporia, discharging one of its female teachers for associating with him; (2) a statement “that he was a man notorious in Emporia for his immorality”; (3) a request signed by 18 practi-

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