1941

Lauren W. Gibbs, Inc. v. E. E. Monson, Joseph Chez,
and Rulon F. Starley, and the Securities
Commission of the State of Utah : Brief of
Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

Plaintiff in this case had to rely on a negative. It stated a fact, not a conclusion, that the bill of particulars lacked certain necessary allegations. If the defendants desired amplification and the setting forth in detail of the bill of particulars their procedure was to demur specially on this ground. The request could then have been easily complied with. Appellants cannot now rely upon their general demurrer to argue that the bill of particulars was not set forth in the complaint.

Appellants cite *In Re Burnette*, 85 Pac. 575, 73 Kan. 609, as authority that these revocation proceedings are not criminal actions. Yet even the Kansas court twice found it necessary to qualify its decision of *In Re Burnette*, supra. In *In Re Smith*, 73 Kan. 743, 85 Pac. 584, that court said:

“While formal and technical pleading is not essential to this proceeding it is important that the charges against an attorney shall be so specific as to fairly inform him of the precise nature of the misconduct with which he is accused. If the facts of the charged misconduct are clearly brought to his attention, the form in which they are stated and whether in 1 or 2 paragraphs is not of great importance . . . *Although the proceeding is not criminal it is of such a nature and the judgment of disbarment is so severe and so direful in its results to an attorney that something more than a mere preponderance of proof is necessary.*” (Italics added.)

Clearly this is more than a mere civil special proceeding. See also *In Re Wilcox*, 90 Kan. 646, 135 Pac. 995, in which the Kansas court holds that so far as awarding costs is concerned, a disbarment proceeding is an action rather than a special proceeding.

Appellants' brief cites the Utah case of *State vs. Cragun*, 81 Utah 457, 20 Pac. (2d) 247. In that case Cragun was convicted in the district court for practicing obstetrics without a license. His license had prior to that trial been revoked by the department of registration,

and he had not appealed to the district court from that revocation. Instead, as a defense to the independent criminal action against him in the district court he urged that the proceedings of revocation before the department were irregular. This Court, in affirming the conviction made clear that this defense was a collateral and not direct attack on the proceedings, and said:

“A complaint may well be held insufficient to support a judgment when attacked in a direct proceeding, but held sufficient when attacked collaterally.”

The proceeding at bar, however, is a direct, not a collateral, attack upon the sufficiency of the revocation of the plaintiff's license, and the procedure followed therein. It is a direct attack upon the penal deprivation of the plaintiff's right to engage in daily livelihood.

In its discussion of the due process question, the appellants' brief cites *People vs. Hasbrouck*, 11 Utah 291, 39 Pac. 918, and *McCarty vs. Public Service Commission*, 94 Utah 304, 77 Pac. (2d) 331, as alleged authority for the statement that administrative boards are not courts and their acts cannot be tested by reference to judicial codes. This Court, however, has definitely held that these administrative bodies, in the exercise of their function in revoking licenses, are acting in a judicial capacity. In *Baker vs. Department of Registration*, 78 Utah 424, 3 Pac. (2d) 1082, this Court said:

“The right to practice medicine is a valuable property right, and the proceeding to revoke such

right is essentially the exercise of a judicial function. While the department of registration is primarily an administrative body, it exercises judicial functions when it undertakes to hear and determine whether or not a license of a physician and surgeon shall be revoked. It is while exercising such function essentially a tribunal.”

This complaint raises the objection that in its exercise of the judicial power the commission failed to follow the procedure necessary to give the defendant the rights which he is guaranteed by the Constitution, of a fair trial in this criminal or quasi criminal proceeding. While it is not necessary that the code procedure set out for courts be strictly followed by the commission, still the commission’s procedure must be such that the inherent rights of the accused to a fair trial are preserved. The complaint says that this was not done, and in so saying states a cause of action.

We have already discussed the failure of the commission to give proper notice, alleged as a cause of action in the complaint. In addition to that, the complaint alleges in paragraph 9 that the plaintiff was not informed as to the defendants’ informant nor confronted with the informant or complaining witness. This Court has already ruled that in the absence of statutory authority depositions cannot be taken in these administrative hearings, that it is necessary to have the direct testimony of the witnesses. *Moormeister vs. Golding*, 84 Utah 324, 27 Pac. (2d) 447). In a hearing which has for its purpose the depriving of the respondent of his means of live-

lihood and which the authorities we have already cited affirm is the equivalent of a criminal hearing, the person whose registration is being revoked surely has a fundamental right to know who the complaining witness is and to have the opportunity to cross examine that witness.

The complaint, then, states a cause of action in alleging that the plaintiff was deprived in the hearing of due process of law by the irregularities of the hearing. It sets forth the following irregularities, all of which taken together constitute such a lack of fundamental procedure of justice in a judicial or quasi judicial proceeding that it should be severely condemned:

1. The suspension order failed to state the facts of the accusation. (Complaint, Par. 4, Abs. 2.)

2. The suspension order failed to state facts sustaining the accusation. (Complaint Par. 5 and 6, Abs. 3 and 4.)

3. The suspension order was issued contrary to law. (Complaint, Par. 6, Abs. 4.)

4. The bill of particulars failed to set forth facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. (Complaint, Par. 7, 8, 11, Abs. 4, 5, 6.)

5. The plaintiff was not informed as to defendant's informant and was not confronted with the complaining witness. (Complaint, Par. 9, Abs. 5.)

6. The commission in arriving at its findings and conclusions acted irregularly in having the transcript of only one side before it. (Complaint, Par. 13, Abs. 8.)

D. *The complaint alleged a total lack of justification for the commission's order in plaintiff's acts prior to the hearing and as adduced at the hearing, and in the whole procedure. (Paragraphs 15 to 18, 21, 22, Abs. 8-10.)*

In the second main section of this brief we shall discuss the question whether the procedure authorized by the statute constitutes an appeal and a review of the decision of the commission or an independent action. If it does constitute an appeal, paragraphs 14 to 18 of the complaint themselves state a cause of action because they set forth the grounds necessary for an appeal from this order of the commission:

1. That the findings of fact and conclusions of law are contrary to and not supported by the issues raised by the order to show cause, the order of suspension, the bill of particulars, or the amended bill of particulars.

2. That the findings of fact and conclusions of law are not supported by, are in conflict with, and go beyond the evidence adduced at the hearing.

3. That the conclusions of law are not supported by the findings of fact and are contrary to law.

4. That the conclusions of law are contrary to the evidence and to the findings of fact and are contrary to law.

5. That the order of cancellation is contrary to law.

On the other hand, if this procedure is not an appeal but is an independent action, the important allegation of the complaint against the commission by the person aggrieved is that there are no grounds for revocation. This is necessarily a statement of fact because it involves a negative. Paragraph 21 of the complaint is a sufficient allegation of this negative:

“That the plaintiff herein has committed no act in the sale, purchase or exchange of securities either of commission or omission which in anywise justifies or sustains the final order of cancellation of registration of the plaintiff as a dealer in securities, dated November 8, 1939, or at all, and is entitled to have said order of cancellation set aside and revoked and its registration as a dealer in securities reinstated.”

In addition to this allegation the complaint alleges that the attorney general conceded that there was no charge of actual fraud and no evidence of actual fraud, and that it was further admitted that there was no fraud on the part of the plaintiff herein nor any intent to defraud, and that no evidence was adduced either on behalf of the plaintiff or commission in any wise showing any fraud or intent to defraud. The appellants' brief attempts to belittle this allegation by the statement that the attorney general sat as a member of the commission and his remarks would not be binding on the other two members of the commission. The appellants forget that

the attorney general was not only a member of the commission judging the respondent, but was also, through his assistant, the attorney prosecuting the action. Whether or not his remarks would be binding on him as judge, they bind him as prosecutor. The admission was actually made by the present attorney general who was then the assistant attorney general prosecuting the case. Admissions of an attorney in open hearing during its progress are of course conclusive upon his client. The attorney general, acting as attorney, cannot now say in his brief that it was not as attorney, but as judge that he made the admissions charged in the complaint. This attempt illustrates one of the many dangers of a system in which representatives of the same office act both as prosecutor and judge. Unless our courts hold a strict rein on commission practices, what advantages there are of the commission system will be lost in a deprivation of personal liberty. We believe this court will not permit the practices alleged in respondent's complaint to go unchecked.

II. The Court below and the Plaintiff and Respondent followed the proper and statutory procedure (Assignments I, II, and III, and Special Demurrer, Assignment IV).

The appellants question the Court's procedure in suspending ex parte the revocation order of the Securities Commission, in authorizing respondent to continue to do business as a licensed dealer pending final determin-

ation by the Court of the action, and in failing to require security pending this determination.

This is an objection to the procedure of the Court which the appellants attempt to raise by their First, Second and Third assignments and by their special demurrer discussed under their Fourth assignment. The action was brought under Sec. 82-1-41, Rev. Stat. 1933, which reads as follows:

“Any person directly affected and aggrieved by any final order of the Commission made under any of the provisions of this title may, within 30 days after notice of such order, institute an action in the district court of the county at the seat of government against the Commission, setting out his grievance and right to complain. In its answer the Commission may set out any matter in justification; and the court shall determine the issues on both questions of law and fact, and may affirm, set aside or modify the order complained of.”

This section contemplates one of two procedures, under either one of which the Court's action is proper.

1. An appeal to the district court from the commission's order involving a trial *de novo* on the record.
2. An action reviewing the decision of the commission by the taking of testimony anew in the district court.

An analysis of the section of the statute will show that the Court's action was proper under either of these theories.

It is self-evident that if the trial in the district court is a review of the action of the commission upon the record, it was proper for the Court to order a transcript of that record of the commission brought before it. In *D. & R. G. W. R. Co. vs. Public Service Commission*, 98 Utah 431, 100 Pac. (2d) 552, this Court held that the procedure set forth in Chapter 65, Laws of Utah, 1935, Sec. 9, involves a trial *de novo* upon the record. Sec. 82-1-41, set forth above, is similar in the following respects to the act interpreted in the *D. & R. G. W.* case. Both provide that any person aggrieved by the action of the commission may, within thirty days after notice of the decision, bring an action in the district court. Both provide that the person aggrieved shall be plaintiff and the commission defendant. The act interpreted in the *D. & R. G. W.* case provides that the action shall be a "plenary review" of the action of the commission; while Sec. 82-1-41 says that the Court "may affirm, set aside, or modify the order complained of." "To review an action is to study or examine it again," this Court stated in that case. To "examine, set aside or modify the order" of the commission limits the district court to the order complained of. We believe that this contemplates a review of the proceedings and that the interpretation of this court in the *D. & R. G. W. R. Co.* case should apply.

In an appeal from the commission to the district court the parties in the absence of statute are put into the position that they were in before the order of the commission. This Court has so ruled in *Moormeister vs.*

Golding, Director of Registration Department, 84 Utah
324, 27 Pac. (2d) 447:

“The general rule is, unless otherwise provided by statute, that an appeal, where the case is triable *de novo*, vacates the judgment appealed from . . .

“It will be noted from our statute in the case of an appeal from a judgment or order made by the department of registration revoking a license to the district court, it makes no provision whatsoever for the necessity of giving a supersedeas bond to stay the judgment appealed from. There is no provision in the statute whatever keeping the judgment effective pending the appeal. This being so, the general rule would seem to apply. This would be true, regardless of whether the judgment may be considered as self-executing, or whether it was not, because in the absence of a statute to the contrary, the appeal vacates it. Hence the effect of an appeal from a judgment, or order, of the department of registration revoking the license, leaves the parties in the same situation with reference to the rights involved as they were prior to the rendition of revocation of license.”

This ruling is directly contrary to the argument of appellants, who claim that the natural and logical conclusion is that the legislature intended orders of such bodies to stand until found unlawful.

If, then, the Court was acting under the first theory that this action in the district court is a trial *de novo* on the record of the action of the Commission, it did ex-

actly what this Court has said is contemplated in an appeal to the district court in such a case: (1) It ordered a transcript of the record so that it could review it on the facts as well as on the law; (2) it suspended the order of the commission and placed the parties in the status they were in before the order of the commission, and it permitted this without a supersedeas bond.

If we look at the statute under the second theory, to-wit, that the procedure outlined there contemplates the taking of new evidence under new issues, we find that under this theory the Court acted likewise in conformity to the statute. It is significant that the section of the statute limits the action in the Court to a decision on the ruling of the commission. Clearly, the commission's order is the subject matter of the action. The "aggrieved party" is the plaintiff. The commission, which by its action has caused the grievance, is the defendant. What is the grievance to set up in the pleading? Primarily, of course, the order itself. Secondly, the lack of justification for the order both in lack of evidence to substantiate the findings and in the procedure which violates the rights of the plaintiff. Appellants urge that under a new trial in which evidence is taken, the procedure of the commission is immaterial, and that it was therefore improper to allege them. If this were so, the allegations in the complaint objecting to the high-handed procedure of the commission might be superfluous, and might be stricken by proper motions. But they cannot be reached by defendants' general demurrer, and are harmless. A

copy of the transcript under this theory might not be necessary, but an order requiring it would at the most be harmless error. The better view, however, should be that an action brought for the purpose of determining whether the district court should affirm, set aside, or modify the order of the Commission, necessarily should have before it all the facts leading to the making of the order by the Commission—including the commission's procedure—whether these facts are presented by a full transcript of the proceedings or by testimony showing what the proceedings were.

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